

Guide Five:

Aboriginal Business Planning Workbook

Aboriginal Albertans in Business Series







Inspirational Quotes for Entrepreneurs

When planning your business, remember to be a businessperson first, an aboriginal person second.

-Shannon Armitage, 1989

Don't just put your heart into the business. Put the business into your heart.

-Thomas Watson Jr. (1914-1993)

What I hear, I forget; what I see, I remember; what I do, I understand.

-Confucius

The farther back you can look, the farther forward you are likely to see.

-Sir Winston Churchill (1874-1965)

A goal properly set is halfway reached.

-Zig Ziglar

What you get by achieving your goals is not as important as what you become by achieving your goals.

-Zig Ziglar

The road to success is lined with many tempting parking spaces.

-Anonymous

Success is not the key to happiness. Happiness is the key to success. If you love what you are doing, you will be successful.

-Anonymous

The only limit to our realization of tomorrow will be our doubts of today; Let us move forward with strong and active faith.

- Franklin D. Roosevelt



Table of Contents

FOF	REWORD	5
NO	W TO USE THIS BUSINESS PLANNING WORKBOOK TES SOURCES TO USE	6 7 8
KE	300RCE3 10 03E	0
STE	EP 1 Finding the right business idea	11
1.1	Finding business ideas	11
	1.1.1 Reasons for Starting	11
	1.1.2 Idea search methods	12
	1.1.3 Idea sources	12
1.2	Evaluating your idea	15
	1.2.1 Business idea screens	15
	1.2.2 Additional information needed	15
	1.2.3 Idea assessment1.2.4 Decision to proceed	16 17
	1.2.5 Skills for running a business	18
1.3	Creating a preliminary vision of your business	18
STE	EP 2 Learning more about your industry, Customers	
	and competitors	19
2.1	Learning about your industry and market	19
	2.1.1 Industry characteristics	19
	2.1.2 Industry trends	20
	2.1.3 Economic trends	21
	2.1.4 Market analysis	22
	2.1.5 Community trends2.1.6 Environmental considerations	23 24
2.2	Learning about your customers	24
	2.2.1 Customer understanding2.2.2 Target customer characteristics	25 25
	2.2.2 Target customer characteristics	25
2.3		28
	2.3.1 Competitor identification	28
	2.3.2 Competitive analysis	29
	2.3.3 Resources to use NOTES	31
STF	EP 3 Deciding <u>what</u> the business will do	31 31
	<u> </u>	
3.1	Defining the image of your business	32
3.2	Defining in more detail your products and services	32

	3.2.1 Specific products and services to offer	33
	3.2.2 Suppliers of products and services	34
	3.2.3 Product and service margins	35
	3.2.4 Resources to use	35
3.3	Business processes and procedures	36
	3.3.1 Manufacturing processes	36
	3.3.2 Service processes and procedures	36
	3.3.3 Retail processes	36
3.4	Considering the distribution of your products and services	37
3.5	Making location decisions	38
	3.5.1 Location characteristics	38
	3.5.2 Methods to decide on a location	39
	3.5.3 Resources to use	40
3.6	Setting a pricing strategy	40
3.7	Developing a promotional strategy	41
	3.7.1 Promotional techniques and methods to be used	41
	3.7.2 Monthly promotional schedule	43
	3.7.3 Resources to use	44
СТГ	TD 4 Deciding how the business will exercte	45
316	EP 4 Deciding how the business will operate	45
4.1	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	45
	4.1.1 Management roles and responsibilities	45
	4.1.2 Staffing decisions	46
	4.1.3 Professional support	47
	4.1.4 Summary of salaries, wages and benefits	47
	4.1.5 Resources to use	48
4.2	Developing the operational plan	48
	4.2.1 Land and buildings	48
	4.2.2 Equipment required	50
	4.2.3 Contributed assets	50 51
	4.2.3 Contributed assets4.2.4 Furniture and fixtures	50 51 51
	4.2.3 Contributed assets4.2.4 Furniture and fixtures4.2.5 Communication system	50 51 51 51
	4.2.3 Contributed assets4.2.4 Furniture and fixtures4.2.5 Communication system4.2.6 Vehicles	50 51 51 51 52
	 4.2.3 Contributed assets 4.2.4 Furniture and fixtures 4.2.5 Communication system 4.2.6 Vehicles 4.2.7 Insurance coverage 	50 51 51 51 52 52
	 4.2.3 Contributed assets 4.2.4 Furniture and fixtures 4.2.5 Communication system 4.2.6 Vehicles 4.2.7 Insurance coverage 4.2.8 Banking charges 	50 51 51 51 52 52 52
	 4.2.3 Contributed assets 4.2.4 Furniture and fixtures 4.2.5 Communication system 4.2.6 Vehicles 4.2.7 Insurance coverage 4.2.8 Banking charges 4.2.9 Bookkeeping and accounting activities 	50 51 51 51 52 52 52 52 53
	 4.2.3 Contributed assets 4.2.4 Furniture and fixtures 4.2.5 Communication system 4.2.6 Vehicles 4.2.7 Insurance coverage 4.2.8 Banking charges 	50 51 51 51 52 52 52
4.3	 4.2.3 Contributed assets 4.2.4 Furniture and fixtures 4.2.5 Communication system 4.2.6 Vehicles 4.2.7 Insurance coverage 4.2.8 Banking charges 4.2.9 Bookkeeping and accounting activities 4.2.10 Office Supplies 4.2.11 Maintenance and repairs 	50 51 51 51 52 52 52 52 53
4.3	 4.2.3 Contributed assets 4.2.4 Furniture and fixtures 4.2.5 Communication system 4.2.6 Vehicles 4.2.7 Insurance coverage 4.2.8 Banking charges 4.2.9 Bookkeeping and accounting activities 4.2.10 Office Supplies 4.2.11 Maintenance and repairs Handling legal requirements	50 51 51 51 52 52 52 52 53 53 53
4.3	 4.2.3 Contributed assets 4.2.4 Furniture and fixtures 4.2.5 Communication system 4.2.6 Vehicles 4.2.7 Insurance coverage 4.2.8 Banking charges 4.2.9 Bookkeeping and accounting activities 4.2.10 Office Supplies 4.2.11 Maintenance and repairs Handling legal requirements 4.3.1 Legal structure of the business 	50 51 51 51 52 52 52 52 53 53 53 53
4.3	 4.2.3 Contributed assets 4.2.4 Furniture and fixtures 4.2.5 Communication system 4.2.6 Vehicles 4.2.7 Insurance coverage 4.2.8 Banking charges 4.2.9 Bookkeeping and accounting activities 4.2.10 Office Supplies 4.2.11 Maintenance and repairs Handling legal requirements	50 51 51 51 52 52 52 52 53 53 53



STEP 5 Working with Financial Plans		58
5.1	Determining start-up costs	58
5.2	Finding out how many customers you need	60
	5.2.1 Fixed costs	60
	5.2.2 Variable costs	61
	5.2.3 Break-even point	61
5.3	Forecasting cash flow	62
	5.3.1 Sales forecasting	63
	5.3.2 Monthly income and expenses	64
	5.3.3 Determining the amount of money you will need to start	65
	NOTES	65
5.4	Creating income statements	67
5.5	Creating balance sheet projections	69
STI	EP 6 Writing the business plan	72
6.1	Formatting the business plan	72
6.2	Putting the pieces together	72
	6.2.1 Beginning section (Cover page, Table of Contents)	73
	6.2.2 Executive Summary	73
	6.2.3 Company Overview	74
	6.2.4 Marketing Plan	75
	6.2.5 Human Resources	78
	6.2.6 Operational Plan	79
	6.2.7 Financial Statements 6.2.8 Appendices	80 82
	о.2.0 дррениюез	02
Glo	ossary of Terms	83
Bib	oliography	85

Disclaimer:

The information presented in this document is intended as a guide only, and while thought to be accurate, is provided strictly "as is" and without warranty of any kind. *The Business Link*, its employees, its directors, its agents or contractors will not be liable to you for any damages, direct or indirect, or lost profits arising out of your use of information provided within this document, or information provided within The Business Link's web sites. This material may be used, reproduced, stored or transmitted for non-commercial purposes, however, *The Business Link's* copyright is to be acknowledged. You may not use, reproduce, store or transmit this material for commercial purposes without prior written consent from *The Business Link*.

© 2003 *The Business Link*



FOREWORD

The **Aboriginal Albertans in Business Series** was developed by **The Business Link** to meet the unique needs of Aboriginal business people.

- <u>Guide One</u>: *Is Running a Business for Me?* Provides information to help you decide whether starting a business is a good choice for you.
- <u>Guide Two</u>: **What's the Right Business for Me?** Provides information about business trends and business sectors that may be attractive to new business people, with contacts for more information.
- Guide Three: Aboriginal Business Service Providers in Alberta Provides the Aboriginal entrepreneur a comprehensive listing of business related service providers.
- <u>Guide Four</u>: in *Aboriginal Financing Options in Alberta*, we have put together financing options for Aboriginal entrepreneurs.
- <u>Guide Five</u> **Aboriginal Business Planning Workbook** provides a step-by-step approach in developing a business plan.

The Business Link has expanded its services to provide specific Aboriginal related business information, advice and referral services in Alberta. Visit our web site at: www.cbsc.org/alberta/absn.

Or contact the main office:

The Business Link Business Service Centre 100-10237 104 Street NW Edmonton, Alberta T5J 1B1 Business Information Line: 780-422-7722 (in Edmonton) or 1-800-272-9675 (toll free)

Fax: 780-422-0055

E- mail: buslink@cbsc.ic.gc.ca Web site: www.cbsc.org/alberta

The Business Link is Alberta's primary business service centre, providing information and advice to Alberta's small business community. A member of the Canada Business Service Centre network, **The Business Link** is a not-for-profit organization supported by the Government of Canada and the Government of Alberta.



HOW TO USE THIS BUSINESS PLANNING WORKBOOK

This **Business Planning Workbook** is designed to help Aboriginal entrepreneurs create a <u>business plan</u>.

Business plans are very important tools for people starting a business. A business plan is like a road map. It shows where you want to go and gives the details on how you will get there.

Reasons for creating a business plan are:

- It helps you decide if your business idea will make a good business
- It allows you to see potential business problems before you start
- It identifies the amount and type of financing your business will need
- It makes it easier for a lender or investor to understand your business idea
- It increases your understanding of your market, customers, and competitors
- It helps you make better decisions about your business
- It improves your ability to manage your business
- It provides a customized plan for you to refer to

This workbook guides you through the 6 steps from "finding the right business idea" to "writing the business plan."

***It is highly recommended that the following steps be taken one right after another:

- STEP 1 Find the right business idea.
- STEP 2 Learn more about your industry, customers, and competitors.
- STEP 3 Decide what the business will do.
- STEP 4 Decide how the business will operate.
- STEP 5 Work with financial plans.
- STEP 6 Write the business plan.

In each step, information is given about the step. Then a series of questions are asked about the business. Some of these questions you will be able to answer directly. For others, you will probably need to collect additional information to answer them in detail. For some, you will need to look back at previous answers you have given.

When you have finished answering all the numbered questions that apply to your business, you will be able to insert your answers in Step 6 to make a business plan. To help you along, references will be made to resources you might use to answer questions. You will be provided with examples to guide you.

To make the most use of this workbook, start at the beginning and work through it page by page to the end. The answers to the first questions will be used to answer questions that follow.

NOTES



RESOURCES TO USE

Where to Do Your Research

A lot of the information required for the industry and market analysis can be found through **secondary data sources**. This is information that has been gathered by someone else but is relevant to the business you want to start.

Examples of sources and types include:

The Business Link

Tel: 1-800-272-9675

Home Page: http://www.cbsc.org/alberta

Description: Complete resource/research centre for business people and entrepreneurs

Direct Link Page: http://www.cbsc.org/alberta/absn

- Business and educational seminars & courses, business library, free professional advice, free use of fax/internet/telephone
- Aboriginal Business Service Network

Statistics Canada

Tel: 1-800-263-1136

Home Page: http://www.statcan.ca/start.html

<u>Description</u>: Community Profiles (basic Census demographics for Canadian communities, including Aboriginal demographics)

Direct Link Page: http://www12.statcan.ca/english/profil01/PlaceSearchForm1.cfm

<u>Description</u>: Census Divisions and Subdivisions Profiles (and other geographically based profiles)

Direct Link Page:

http://www12.statcan.ca/english/census01/products/standard/profiles/index.cfm Look for:

Catalogue No. 94-115 and No. 94-116

-Household Demographics, Income Statistics, Families, Households & Housing information (including household expenditures; family food expenditures; housing information, etc.)

Direct Link Page:

http://www.statcan.ca/english/Pgdb/famili.htm - inc

Look for:

Catalogue No. 62-555 - Family Expenditures in Canada Catalogue No. 62-554 - Family Food Expenditures

Catalogue No. 62F0026M1E - Household Expenditures Research Paper Series



Canada Post

Tel: 1-800-267-1177

Home Page: www.canadapost.ca

<u>Description</u>: Household Counts and Maps, Demographics and Income Statistics for Postal Areas, Household Figures for Letter Carrier Offices, Lists populations for various postal code communities in Canada, Household Figures for Non-Letter Carrier Offices

Direct Link Page: http://www.canadapost.ca/cpc2/addrm/hh/default-e.asp

GD Sourcing

Fax: (905) 332-3740

Home Page: http://www.gdsourcing.com/

Description: A website which indexes many sources of free Canadian business and industry

information.

Additional Resources

- 1. Local public, business, and educational institution libraries
 - The Canadian Business Disk
 - Trade publications / periodicals/ company directories
 - Aboriginal Exporters Directory/ Team Canada Inc.
- 2. Municipal, provincial, and federal government departments and agencies
 - Aboriginal Business Service Network http://www.cbsc.org/absn
 - Aboriginal Planet Business Centre

http://www.dfait-maeci.gc.ca/aboriginalplanet/

3. Business and industry trade shows and exhibitions

Check libraries for:

- Show & Exhibitions Directory
- Tradeshow Week Data Book
- Tradeshowbiz Canada
- 4. Magazines and newspapers
 - Check libraries for related topics
- 5. Business professional services, e.g. accountants, lawyers, consultants, insurance brokers, bankers, economic development officers, community groups, or agents
 - Aboriginal Business Canada http://www.abc-eac.ic.gc.ca/
 - Business Development Bank of Canada http://www.bdc.ca/
- 6. Other business people / known acquaintances / competition / Internet/ Business and industry associations:
 - Métis Nation of Alberta
 - Business Networking Events
 - Chamber of Commerce

- Band Offices
- Yellow Pages



7. Web resources:

- http://strategis.ic.gc.ca
- http://albertafirst.com
- www.entrepreneur.com
- http://www.aand.gov.ab.ca/

(Source: Guide to Market Research and Analysis, Document No. #: 4013, Canada Business Service Centres)

Where to Do Your Research...Continued

Information on customers can be found through both secondary research and primary research methods. **Primary research** means gathering specific information about your business, for example, through a telephone survey.

Common primary research techniques include the following:

One-on-one interviews are face-to-face discussions with potential customers. Advantages include:

- Opportunity to get additional, specific information
- Combines objective (impersonal) and subjective (personal) data

Disadvantages are:

- Requires more preparation
- Time-consuming to arrange appointments

Surveys can be done by telephone, mail and e-mail.

Advantages of surveys are:

- Very objective (impersonal)
- Responses can be calculated mathematically

Disadvantages of surveys can be that they are:

- Inflexible
- Time consuming to prepare

Focus Groups bring together a group of potential customers (8-12 people) to ask them questions about your proposed business, their buying habits, their perceptions of your products and services.

The advantages of using focus groups are:

- In-depth investigation is possible
- Can have completely different responses, initiating discussion, which may lead to different ideas

The disadvantages include:

- Should be run by a Professional Facilitator
- Can be costly

Other techniques include:

- Observation
- Interview other business owners out of your trading area
- Interview experts in the field such as professors, retired owners, etc.

STEP 1 Find the right business idea

The first step in finding the right business for you is to decide why you want to start a business and what skills you bring to the business.

1.1 Finding business ideas

1.1.1 Reasons for starting

Entrepreneurs and small business owners have many reasons for starting their businesses.

Most successful small businesses have the following primary reasons for starting a business:

Common Reasons for Starting a Small Business

- 1) Grab hold of an opportunity
- 2) Fulfill personal objectives
- 3) Fulfill a dream to run a business
- 4) Use experience and skills
- 5) Be your own boss
- 6) Make a living
- 7) Use previous experience
- 8) Supplement income from other employment
- 9) Create a job for self
- 10) Leave a frustrating job
- 11) Make lots of money

The reason to 'Make lots of money' as your main reason for starting a business may not be the best. Less than 5% of <u>successful</u> business owners said "Make lots of money" was the primary reason that they started their businesses. On the other hand, about 30% of business owners who failed said this was their reason for starting.

As you can see, many of these reasons are things that mean a lot personally to the entrepreneur. The truth is that many businesses, in the first two years, do not make as much money as the entrepreneur expects them to. If they are not doing something they like, then they will most likely give up and quit the business.



What is your primary reason for starting a business?	

1.1.2 Idea search methods

Many people think that all you need to start a business is <u>one</u> good idea. While that may sometimes be true, the best foundation for business success is to have several possibilities for creating profits. If the main idea doesn't work, an alternative idea is available to try. It is a worthwhile activity to look at additional products and services that may make your first idea better.

Business <u>ideas</u> must match business <u>opportunities</u>. Methods for finding good business ideas can include the following:

- Listen to people who may want or need a product or service.
- Watch for good ideas in the marketplace that are being poorly done.
- Look for businesses that are successful elsewhere, but not in your area.
- Recognize trends in the marketplace.
- Look at "why" people buy something rather than "what" they buy.
- Explore data sources that focus on business opportunities.

To identify a good business opportunity, consider these steps:

1) Use existing opportunities

Find a market that is not well served by current businesses. Learn from competitors. Their weaknesses can create a business opportunity for you. Their successes will tell you what you are up against.

2) Create a new opportunity

You can create a new product that meets unmet market needs. For instance, Aboriginal tourism is doing well because tourists enjoy experiencing Aboriginal culture.

3) Re-invent a product or service

It must be different from the old version, but you can market it to a different group of people or a foreign market. For example, camping might be combined with Aboriginal tourism to encourage more tourists to camp.

1.1.3 Idea sources

Good ideas come from many different and sometimes simple sources. Many people find their ideas while working in the same industry. Others take advantage of trends they see in

the marketplace. Still others recognize gaps in the market or situations where existing businesses are not offering customers what they want.

The following is a brief description of some of the sources most often used by entrepreneurs in search of new business opportunities.

Work Experience

Work experience is the most common source of new business ideas. There are great advantages to starting your business in a field you already know. You know about the products and services you will provide, you understand the competition, you have some understanding of what the customer wants, and you may already know some potential customers.

Ideas from your last job can take several forms. For example, you might develop a product or service and sell it to your last employer.

Hobbies

Many people have hobbies. In many cases, your unique interests can inspire new businesses. For example, an avid sportsperson may open a sporting goods store, an amateur photographer will open a portrait studio, or a hunter may offer guiding services or may run a hunting lodge and game farm.

Observations

A fresh look at daily living situations can spur new product or service ideas. This often occurs when people travel and observe products or services that are not yet available in their local market area. You may see these ideas, or someone you know may recognize an opportunity or unmet need.

Information Resources

The Business Link has expanded its services to provide business information, advice and referral services to meet the needs of potential and existing Aboriginal business people in Alberta. **The Business Link** is your first stop for Aboriginal-specific business information in Alberta through its **Alberta Aboriginal Business Services** area.

The Business Link Business Service Centre Aboriginal Business Service Network

100-10237 104 Street NW Edmonton, Alberta T5J 1B1 Business Information Line: 780-422-7722 (in Edmonton) or 1-800-272-9675 (toll-free)

Library: 780-422-7780 Fax: 780-422-0055

E-mail: mailto:buslink@cbsc.ic.gc.ca
Web site: http://www.cbsc.org/alberta/absn

Friends And Relatives

Discussions with those you know should not be overlooked as a source of new business ideas. Comments such as "wouldn't it be nice if someone came up with something to do



with..." or "what this place needs is ... " and other complaints and observations can provide a number of potential ideas.

Internet Searches

Many web sites focus on developing business opportunities. For example, at http://www.cbsc.org/osbw/session1/concepts.cfm, 40 concepts for finding a business opportunity are highlighted.

Media

Read business publications and other printed sources – newspapers (both local and from other places), specialty magazines, newsletters, and trade publications – to find ideas to stimulate your entrepreneurial thinking. As well, stay alert to television and radio programming to help you identify market trends.

Conventions

Conventions are an excellent place to stimulate your creative thinking. At a convention you can learn from panels, speakers, films and exhibitions on subjects that interest you.

Trade Shows

Trade shows on the industry you wish to enter allow you to carefully examine the products and services of your potential competitors. A trade show also allows you to meet distributors and sales representatives, learn about product and market trends and identify potential products or services for your business.

Inventors' Shows

Inventors' shows give inventors and manufacturers a place to meet to discuss potential products for the marketplace.

Mentors/Coaches and Advisors

An experienced businessperson may be willing to help you by providing advice based on their experience.

The following can help you find a mentor:

- Local band Economic Development Officer
- Your own network: family, friends and acquaintances (someone you already know may have some useful business experience).
- Municipal, provincial or federal government business service providers in your area (resource people who work with local business agencies and other organizations).
- Business associations (contact your local or regional industry association, Chamber of Commerce or business group).
- Financial institutions (your banker may be able to refer you to someone who can help).
- Private-sector management consultants (on a fee-for-service basis, consultants can provide useful advice to businesses. Consult your local business telephone listings.)

Through careful observation and searching, it is possible to uncover a number of areas of opportunity. As you go about this kind of search, remember to write down your ideas as they occur to vou.

What are some of the businesses you might co	onsider starting?

1.2 Evaluating your idea

Before putting a lot of time and effort into developing a detailed business plan, you should first do a quick evaluation of the business idea. Remember, having more than one idea is okay, because if your first idea doesn't work out, then you will have another idea to explore.

1.2.1 Business idea screens

If you come up with more than one idea, you will need to choose which one is best to evaluate. Screens reflect the personal goals and objectives of the owner. For example, the business idea may need to make money very quickly, or perhaps the owner does not want a business that requires travel.

Evaluate your business idea against your personal goals and objectives. The business idea that fulfills the most personal objectives should be examined first. Remember, it is very hard to evaluate more than one idea at a time.

Keeping in mind your major reason for starting a business, what are some of the personal objectives you have for the business?

)	
2)	
, 5)	

1.2.2 Additional information needed

To evaluate an idea, ask some quick questions about the idea. Try to listen to both positive and negative comments.

Some questions might include:

- Have you shared the idea with others? What did they think of it?
- Has the idea been tried before? If it hasn't, then why not?



- If the idea has been tried, then how successful was it? Can you improve on that success?
- What funds are available to finance the idea?

1.2.3 Idea assessment

One way to assess your idea is to evaluate it by factors that are present in very positive business situations. For each factor in the following chart, rate whether "it definitely is true for your business idea," "it is true to a certain degree" or "it is not really true."

Positive Factor Chart

Positive statement factors	It is definitively true	It is true to a degree	It really is not true
The customer needs your product / service.			
Customers will recognize your product / service in			
the marketplace.			
Customers will buy your product / service			
frequently.			
Your cost compared to your selling price is very			
low.			
The sources for your products or raw materials for			
making the product are dependable.			
Skilled people are available to work for the			
business.			
All technical requirements are met.			
Regulations can be fully met.			
Operations are not risky.			
No competition exists.			
Business can start with a low investment.			
You can get the money you need to start the			
business.			
The business will hold rights on products (such			
as patents, licenses, or exclusive contracts).			

At this point, the two most important assessment factors are customers needing or wanting the products or services you will sell – and if you will be able to find enough money to start the business. You need to consider how your personal financial situation will allow you to invest in the start-up costs and early operational costs of your new business.

Financial resources exist. A good reference is <u>Guide Four: Financing Options for Aboriginal Businesses in Alberta</u>, part of **The Business Link's** Aboriginal Albertans in Business Series.



Whatever financial resources you use, however, there will be the expectation that you will be financing at least part of the business with your own money. You should examine your personal net worth in this regard.

To determine your personal net worth, do the following:

- 1) Identify and value all of the assets you own such as cash, vehicles or equity in a
- 2) List all of the money that you owe such as any loans you have, credit card debt, or mortgages; and
- 3) Subtract all of the money you owe from the value of all of the assets you own.

You will need a positive personal net worth before any lenders or investors will be willing to help you.

If your personal net worth is positive, you will also need to find out how much money you must take from the business to meet your daily living expenses.

Your personal financial situation is a key consideration when you are deciding on the size and the scope of your business concept.

1.2.4 Decision to proceed

If many of your assessment scores are "true to a degree" or "not really true", you might want to think of ways to overcome the situations or look for similar or related business ideas to evaluate.

As you further examine your idea, does it make sense to spend more time developing the idea?

If it <u>does not make sense</u> to further develop the idea, this is not an unusual situation. Many good business ideas do not make good businesses. The reasons for this can include the following:

- A business may be trying to offer products or services to people who do not understand the products or services being offered.
- The price that must be charged for a product may be more than a potential customer wants to pay.
- There may be too many competitors already offering the products or services.
- The costs to start the business are too high for the owner to finance.

If any of the above exists, you should either look at making changes to the idea, or set it aside for the time being and look for a fresh idea.

If it <u>does make sense</u> to further develop the idea, your next step is to start envisioning what the business will look like.



1.2.5 Skills for running a business

Many skills are used in running a business. However, having the necessary <u>management skills</u> is essential to survive. One of the principal reasons for small business failure is <u>poor management</u>. Skills needed to start a business can include the following:

- Management skills.
- Problem solving skills.
- Human resources understanding.
- Team building skills.
- Communication skills.

Business owners seldom have all the skills that starting a business requires. This means the owner may need further training in particular skills, or will need to hire people with the skills required. You should think about the skills you have and the skills you will need to run the business. You may need to consider additional training before you start your business.

1.3 Creating a preliminary vision of your business

The **vision statement** is the driving force behind the business. As such, it can run from one paragraph to two pages; basically whatever it takes to describe what the business wants to achieve. There is no right or wrong in a *vision statement*. It should address what is important to the owner of the business.

For example, an owner may want the business to grow and then to franchise it in five years. Another example would be an owner who, after establishing the business, wants to give something back to the community.

A vision statement is not found in every business plan. More and more investors or potential partners are interested in seeing the vision statement to get a better understanding of the owner's long-term plans and personal motivations in starting the business.

Question 1: Considering the above, write out the vision you have of your business. What will it look like in five years?	

STEP 2 Learn more about your industry, Customers, and competitors

Putting together a business plan is a big step towards the success of your business. Good businesses are built on a solid foundation of information. In your evaluation of the business idea in STEP 1, you made a decision that your business idea is good enough that you should now spend some time and energy to develop a proper business plan.

The main information you will need is collected in STEP 2. It is critical that you learn more about your industry and market, your customers and your competitors. This information will help you decide what specific products and services to offer your customers. It also will help you position your business in relation to the competition. The answers to the questions in STEP 2 will be used to shape your decisions on what your business will do and how your business will be run.

2.1 Learning about your industry and market

You will need to know about both <u>your industry</u> and <u>your market</u>. An industry analysis looks at the big picture – how your industry is doing provincially, nationally and internationally. An industry analysis includes information about how the industry works and its characteristics, industry trends and economic trends that affect it. Your market analysis focuses more on your local trading area. Market analysis would include the size of your market trading area, community trends and environmental considerations.

The industry analysis in a business plan shows that you know how your industry works and what are the trends in the industry. The market analysis will help you further make decisions on how your business will be started.

The information needed can be obtained from many different sources. These sources include your personal knowledge and experience, libraries, the Internet, experts in the field, government organizations and others such as associations, directories, articles and suppliers. Many of the sources listed on pages 8, 9 & 10 can help you get this information.

2.1.1 Industry characteristics

Questions to consider when you are examining your industry include the following:

How many of the firms in the industry are profitable? One source for this information would be http://strategis.ic.gc.ca/ and then search for "Performance Plus". Check *The Business Link's* Library or your public library for other sources.

What are the key factors for success in your industry?

What helps the good firms succeed? Examples: marketing, pricing, bidding, cost control, customer service and product quality.



Are there any barriers for a new business to enter the industry? Examples: long-term contracts with existing contractors, bonds required.

What role does the government play as a regulator, customer, legislator, etc. in the industry? Examples: a license is required to serve liquor in a restaurant; government contracts are awarded through a bidding process.

Question 2 : Is the business seasonal? What are the high and low seasons?
High season months
Low season months
Question 3: After reviewing your answers to these questions, write a short paragraph describing your industry.

2.1.2 Industry trends

Industry trends help to identify business opportunities. Industries change all the time. Knowing industry trends can help you in several ways. These include:

- Uncovering a change in customer demands
- Offering you the chance to be more competitive
- Providing you with a direction for growth in the development of new products
- Helping you build your product strategies



Is the industry growing or declining? Where will it be in five years? What are the past, present and future industry trends? Have you anticipated technological changes? How will technology changes affect the business? How dependent is your industry on another industry? For example, the transportation industry depends on the manufacturing industry, and the restaurant industry depends on the tourism industry. It's important to be aware of these relationships. Question 4: Summarize in a short paragraph the answers to these industry trend questions. 2.1.3 Economic trends Many businesses are affected by economic trends. For example, high interest rates can reduce sales of homes and cars. If your industry is affected by changes in the economy, then you should collect information on the key economic indicators that affect your industry. Forecasts of these indicators will allow you to anticipate changes in demand for your products and services. Do the following economic situations affect the business? If so, how? Interest rates _____ Unemployment levels

Questions to consider when looking at your industry trends would include:



Cost of living changes
Consumer spending
Bankruptcies
Private and government investment
Question 5: Explain in paragraph form how the economy generally affects your industry.
2.1.4 Market Analysis
In order to analyze the market, the following questions need to be considered.
In geographical terms, how large is the market area you intend to serve with your products or services?
If you expect the market area to grow in the next two or three years, why will this happen?
Question 6: What is the total potential sales volume in units and dollars of the market area you described above? Sources can include data from Statistics Canada, industry associations or local government organizations. For example, Family Expenditures in Canada Catalogue No. 62-555, from Statistics Canada gives you what the average family spends on a variety of consumer items. If you know the number of households in your market area, then you can determine the sales volume in dollars.
Other sources listed on pages 8, 9 & 10 can help you get this information.

What percentage share of this market do you hope to obtain in each of the first three years?
Question 7 : Summarize your answers to the previous questions into one or two paragraphs.
2.1.5 Community trends
A description of the community where the business will operate helps you understand the local business climate and how it may affect your business growth. This description should answer these questions.
In what community will the business operate?
What type of economy does the community have? Example: mostly mining.
Will your company serve only the local market or are there opportunities to expand regionally, nationally or internationally?
Question 8 : Summarize your answers to the previous questions into one paragraph.

2.1.6 Environmental considerations

Answers on this topic will help you and others evaluate the environmental impact of your business.

Question 9: Will the business meet the standards of environmental legislation? If this an important issue to your business, then you should provide the names and phone numbers of the individuals you are dealing with about environmental issues and standards.
Other environmental questions should also be considered like:
Will the business adversely affect: Historic features? Archaeological sites? Unique features? Endangered species? Adjacent land use?
Will the business produce air contaminants, radiation or contaminated waste material?
Will the business use or produce toxic chemicals or hazardous materials?
Will the business affect the health or safety of humans or animals?
Will the business arouse public concerns?
Can any harmful effects be stopped by known technology?

2.2 Learning about your customers

Most owner-managers begin with an idea that soon grows into a decision to offer their product or service in the marketplace. Successful marketing means knowing who your customers are, and making sure your product or service satisfies the customers' needs. The best way to do this is to look at your market carefully and prepare a three-year plan that describes how you will approach the market and promote your product or service.

Much of this information comes from market research activities including both secondary data and primary data sources. A list of major resources of primary and secondary data can be found on pages 8, 9 & 10.

2.2.1 Customer understanding

To learn about potential customers, you must conduct market research. It is important to understand that everyone is not your customer. As a business owner, you need to target only potential customers and not everybody. This allows the business to offer greater benefits to its targeted customers.

A target market is a group of potential customers that have some common characteristics. Your target market could be other businesses or consumers. You also may have more than one target market.

One method to find your target market is as follows:

- 1) All potential customers are divided up by common characteristics. People may be divided by demographic characteristics or according to their lifestyles.
 - Common demographics include age, gender, income level, homeowner, education and ethnic background.
 - Lifestyle considerations might include hobbies, reading habits, sports activities, etc.
- 2) These various groups then can be combined to form smaller groups. For example, home renovators may be interested in middle-aged homeowners who live in older homes with moderate or high incomes.
- 3) These smaller groups are examined, and the smaller groups that have the most potential customers then become your target markets. A business can have more than one target market.

2.2.2 Target customer characteristics

Business Customers

If you are SELLING TO OTHER BUSINESSES, answer the following questions:

Question 10: List your major potential business customers, their location, the main products or services they sell, and state how often they will purchase your products or services.

1)

21

3)
4)
5)
6)
Other questions to consider include:
Who makes the buying decisions in the companies that will buy your products or services?
What are the key factors that companies use to make their buying decisions? Example: Is warranty work more important than the availability of products?
What prices are companies willing to pay for your products or services?
Can long-term contracts be negotiated?
What are the specific user needs of your products or services?
Question 11: Summarize the answers to these questions and considerations you have made to describe your target business customers.
Consumers
If you are SELLING TO CONSUMERS, answer the following questions:
Question 12: What are the information details on your primary target market?
Age range

Income range
Gender
Marital status
Number of children
Occupation
Location boundaries
Average purchase of products and services
Frequency of purchases
Reading habits
Leisure activities
Other questions to consider include the following:
Do the customers have specific needs or wants that aren't being fulfilled? What are these needs?
What are the current buying habits of your target customers? Example: customers wait until after payday to purchase clothes.
Who or what influences the purchasing decisions of your target market?
What do potential customers like about your potential competitors? What don't they like about your competitors?
Question 13: If you are selling to the consumer, summarize in two to three paragraphs the information gained from the questions and considerations.

2.3 Analyzing your competition

A key to the success of your business is establishing your share of the market. Information such as how your competitors price, market and sell their products can help you make your business different from theirs. Also, a good understanding of the competition may help you identify areas that are not yet targeted. Finally, understanding why your strongest competitors are successful will give you important information about the market's likes and dislikes.

In this section, you will identify your competitors and compare your business to your three major competitors. Be honest with yourself as you identify areas where you have a competitive advantage as well as areas for potential improvement. You will have to do some legwork and research, but don't short-cut this step. It is very important to know your competition well.

2.3.1 Competitor identification

Questions and considerations about your competitors can include the following:



Question 14: What are the number and size of your competitors in your market area? One source to help you determine the number of competitors could be the Yellow Pages. A source to find the size of your competitors might be the Canadian Business Directory, available at *The Business Link* or regional business development offices.

What is the success rate of competing businesses? One way to get this information might be to trace competitors using past years of the Yellow Pages or other business directories.

The answers to **Questions 6** (page 22) **and 14** (page 29) could help you determine the average sales per competitor. By observation and discussions with suppliers, the general amount of sales a competitor is above or below the average could identify a competitor's sales range.

Identify your major competitors.

Competitor's name	Location	Estimated Market Volume	Estimated Market Share (%)

2.3.2 Competitive analysis

Complete a competitive analysis chart.

On a scale of 1 to 4 (where 4 is the best), rank the following factors for your business and your top three competitors.

Factors	Your Business	Competitor #1	Competitor #2	Competitor #3
Image / Reputation				
Product selection				
Product quality				
Product reliability				
Product service				
Location				
Store Layout				
Appearance of store				
Hours of operation				
Pricing				
Promotions				
Customer Service				
Customer profile				

Customer accessibility		
Staff expertise		
Management		
Years in business		

Question 15: Summarize your competitors' strengths and weaknesses and highlight the advantages you have over your competitors.					

2.3.3 Resources to use

Common primary and secondary data sources are found on pages 8, 9 & 10.

Additional sources of information related to competitive analysis include the following:

- Visit or call your competition and observe their set-up, customers, staff and professionalism.
- Review their promotional materials Yellow Pages, web sites, brochures, and flyers.

<u>NOTES</u>

STEP 3 Deciding what the business will do

In STEP 3, you will make a series of decisions about exactly what your business will do. These decisions will be based upon the information you already have collected with your answers to previous questions. References will be made to previous questions, to help you make your decisions.

3.1 Defining the image of your business

Your business image is how the customers see your business. The business image involves every bit of the operations. It is the appearance of a store, the way the business phone is answered, or the advertising used in promotions.

Businesses have many different images. These images are sometimes defined by the quality of products sold and their prices. For example, a premium image would involve selling high quality products at high prices.

The image of your business should match your products and fit in with the needs and wants of your target customers. It is important that your business image must be consistent. Once you decide on what the image of your business will be, then every thing the business does should reflect that image.

Question 16: What will be the image of your business? (Refer to answers for
Questions 1 (p. 18), 13 (p. 27) and 15 (p. 30) Example: A stereo installer trying to get a car dealership contract would want to stress an image of quality workmanship with years of experience and the ability to perform the installations quickly.)

3.2 Defining in more detail your products and services

Your business is based on the products and services you sell. You should be able to describe in detail what you are selling and then show how it is different from what your competitors have to offer.



Through your industry analysis you have identified trends in the industry and opportunities in the marketplace. Your products and services should meet the needs of your potential customers.

The differences between your products and services and your competitors' are your competitive advantages.

This section describes the features and benefits of your products and services that you are selling. How will your customers use your products and services?

3.2.1 Specific products and services to offer

Here you will identify the major categories of products and/or services that your business will sell. You will answer key questions about each of these categories, and then review them to make sure they are compatible.

It is important to think of your business in terms of these categories as you make decisions, for example, about inventory, advertising and pricing.

Identify the major categories of your products and services. For example, a convenience store might have the following categories: dairy products, deli sales, cigarettes and grocery items.

1)	
2)	
3)	
4)	

Who are your customers for each product or service?

Your product categories should fit together well into a total business concept. What business are you really in? Are you going to be in too many markets? If you will be a producer, are the production needs of your products too different from each other or too complex? It is important that these categories blend smoothly into a cohesive business concept. Make revisions if necessary.

Question 17: In a short paragraph, write a summary of your products and services.

3.2.2 Suppliers of your products and services
Suppliers will provide the necessary materials, products and services so you can run your business. You will need to find out which suppliers will best meet the needs of your business.
Even before you start, suppliers can give you an idea of material costs and product availability. These costs must be used in decisions on your pricing strategy and in developing your financial forecasts. The terms and conditions for buying your products also can greatly affect your operations.
The price may not always be the best reason for choosing a supplier. Other reasons you may want to consider include: • Will the supplier be able to deliver the materials or products you need? • Will the supplier be able to deliver on time? • Will the supplier offer any support services such as product training? • What will be the terms and conditions?
Questions and considerations on suppliers include the following:
Who are your main suppliers for each product category?
1)
2)
3)
4)
What are your potential suppliers' payment terms? Examples: C.O.D., 30 days' credit.
Question 18: Summarize information on your suppliers.

3.2.3 Products and services margins

Question 19: What are the retail prices, costs, and margins of your product and service categories?

Product categories	Avg. selling price	Avg. costs	Margin (%)
1.			
2.			
3.			
4.			
5.			
6.			
7.			

3.2.4 Resources to use

Common primary and secondary data sources are found on pages 8, 9 & 10.

Additional sources of information related to your products and services include the following:

- Trade Shows (listings in trade show directories such as *Shows and Exhibitions*)
- Trade Magazines (e.g. Canadian Almanac and Directory)
- Business Directories (e.g. Canadian Trade Index, Fraser's, Scott's)



3.3 Business processes and procedures

3.3.1 Manufacturing processes

If you are going to make your products, you need to explain the processes you will use to make your products. The following are some considerations for setting up your manufacturing processes.

- Determine your equipment, material and labour requirements, as well as their price and availability.
- Consider alternate sources of raw materials.
- Estimate your inventory requirements.
- Plan for the care and handling of hazardous materials.
- Plan to move into the production phase in a timely manner.
- Investigate the protection of your product through patents or trademarks that will provide you with a stronger competitive advantage.

Your production requirements will have a direct impact on your physical location, human resources, licensing needs and time frame.

The manufacturing processes should be detailed enough to communicate what your business produces and the steps involved in production. You may wish to include a floor plan or store layout to show the flow of steps.

3.3.2 Service processes and procedures

If you are starting a service business, consider the same questions as above as they apply to your service business. Your business plan must show how the business will work and how you will provide good service to your customers while controlling your costs.

3.3.3 Retail processes

If you are starting a retail business, think about the previous considerations particularly as they apply to the amount of inventory you will need.

Question 20: If your business is involved in manufacturing, services, or retail processes, then summarize the process used.		

3.4	Considering the distribution of your products and services
	ibe how your products will get to your customers and the end user (if this is ent than your customer).
	ution costs are costs related to the distributing of product or material. These costs nclude shipping, import/export duties, and/or insurance while goods are in transit.
Ques	tion 21: Outline the distribution costs for your business.

3.5 Making location decisions

This is a complete description of how and where you plan to sell your product. Your market research should reveal your customers' preferences for location.

Location is an extremely important factor for many businesses. For most retail and many small service businesses, location is critical to success. Customer access is very important when evaluating a location. For wholesale and manufacturing businesses, the availability of resources such as labour, materials, transportation and utilities can be important features of a location.

You must match your location and distribution strategy to the buying habits of your target market. For example, choosing to operate a home-based business has implications for client meetings and customer convenience.

You must make sure that your business can abide by all local level government bylaws.

3.5.1 Location characteristics

In choosing a good location, consider the following factors:

- Customer preferences
- Services (i.e. parking, access)
- Traffic counts
- Neighbouring stores
- Area growth
- Cost
- Competition
- Transportation
- Image
- Security
- Proper management

Questions to consider include:

What features make a good location for your business? Questions 11 (p. 26), 12 (p. 26), 13 (p. 27) and 15 (p. 30)]	[Refer to answers for

3.5.2 Methods to ded	cide on a location	on	
One way to find a good busin more than one possible site, a manager.			
·		II	
Use a comparison of sites t Questions 13 (p. 27) and 15		d location [Refer to	o the answers to
Use a comparison of sites t		_	o the answers to
Use a comparison of sites t	(p. 30)]	_	the answers to
Use a comparison of sites to Questions 13 (p. 27) and 15 Location factors Lease costs	(p. 30)] Comparing Lo	ocations	
Use a comparison of sites to Questions 13 (p. 27) and 15 Location factors Lease costs Appearance of nearby	(p. 30)] Comparing Lo	ocations	
Use a comparison of sites to Questions 13 (p. 27) and 15 Location factors Lease costs Appearance of nearby pusinesses	(p. 30)] Comparing Lo	ocations	
Location factors Lease costs Appearance of nearby ousinesses Traffic from nearby	(p. 30)] Comparing Lo	ocations	
Use a comparison of sites to Questions 13 (p. 27) and 15 Location factors Lease costs Appearance of nearby cousinesses Traffic from nearby cousinesses	(p. 30)] Comparing Lo	ocations	
Use a comparison of sites to Questions 13 (p. 27) and 15 Location factors Lease costs Appearance of nearby businesses Traffic from nearby businesses Expansion possibilities	(p. 30)] Comparing Lo	ocations	
Use a comparison of sites t Questions 13 (p. 27) and 15	(p. 30)] Comparing Lo	ocations	



3.5.3 Resources to use

Common primary and secondary data sources are found pages 8, 9 & 10.

Additional sources of information related to picking a location include the following:

- Ask your target market your customers will tell you what they want.
- Economic Development Offices.
- Traffic counts, demographics, and zoning information by Regional and Municipal Governments.
- Commercial property managers.

3.6 Setting a pricing strategy

The price of your product relates to your costs, competition and customers. Your pricing information will determine profitability and profit margins. An effective pricing strategy can help you enter a market quickly. Your pricing strategy should be consistent with the overall image of the products and services. For example, in some instances customers will relate a lower price with lower quality, even if this not the case.

A new business must learn the difference between price and value. Very seldom can a new business compete in price with established firms. Therefore a new business must stress value.

Considerations to make concerning your pricing include:

How do you determine the selling price? Examples: based on your competition, based on your costs.

Is your selling price higher, lower or about the same as your competitors' prices?

What products are sensitive to price changes? For example: seasonal considerations.

Does your price cover all of your costs?

Question 23: Explain ye	our pricing strategy.	

3.7 Developing a promotional strategy

The strategy you choose to communicate with your target market to obtain your sales is <u>extremely</u> important. You need a well-defined plan of action that includes the timing, costs and expected return of the chosen promotional techniques.

3.7.1 Promotional techniques and methods to be used

Promotional techniques include advertising, sales promotions, personal selling or publicity. Some of these techniques feature the following:

- Balloons
- Billboards
- Brochures and Pamphlets
- Bumper Stickers
- Bus and Taxi Signs
- Business Card
- Business Lunches
- Business Networking
- Buttons
- Calendars
- Charitable Events
- Classified Ads
- Community Involvement
- Contests
- Co-Op Advertising
- Decals
- Demonstrations
- Direct Mail Coupon Co-Op Advertising
- Discount Coupons
- Discount Premium Books
- Door Hangers
- Employee Events
- Envelopes
- Exterior Building Signs
- Fliers or Circulars
- Folders and Binders

- Free Information
- Free Trials
- Home Parties
- Internet
- Letterhead
- Magazine Ads
- Multiple Purchase Offers
- News Releases
- Newsletters
- Newspaper Inserts
- Package Inserts
- Personal Letters
- Place
- Point-Of-Purchase Signs
- Postcards
- Print on the Box/Container
- Program and Yearbook Ads
- Proposals
- Referral Incentives
- Sales Calls
- Sampling
- Sidewalk Signs
- Signs at Sporting Events
- · Signs Draped on the Building
- Skywriting
- Special Events
- Special Sales
- Sponsorships
- Statement Stuffers
- Stickers
- Take One Racks
- Talks and Presentations
- Tape or Ribbon
- Telephone Hold Messages
- Television
- Tours
- T-Shirts
- Two-For-One Offers
- Vehicle Signs
- Video Commercials at Checkout Counters
- Video Tapes
- Window Signs

A comprehensive marketing plan is critical to your business's success. Base your plan on your analysis of the market and your competition.

Question 24: How will you promote your product or service? [Refer to answers to Questions 2 (p. 20), 3 (p.20), 7 (p. 23), 8 (p. 23), 11 (p. 26), 12 (p. 26), 13 (p. 27), 15 (p. 30) and 16 (p. 32)].

3.7.2 Monthly promotional schedule

The timing of promotional methods will have an impact on cash flow. Questions regarding the timing and costs include the following:

When will the promotions be done? Example: a lot at the beginning of the business followed by ongoing regular promotions. [Refer to answers for Question 2 (p.20)]

How much will each promotion cost?

Question 25: Create a promotions schedule. This should list all promotional activities by month for the first year of operations. Refer to the answers for the questions previously considered. The following table can be used to give a quick picture of the scope of promotions.

Promotional Schedule

Month	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	Total
Radio													
Newspaper													
Yellow Pages													
Weekly Flyer													
Magazine													
Direct Mail													
Billboard													
Signs													
Specialty Items													
Other													
TOTAL													

3.7.3 Resources to use

Common primary and secondary data sources are found on pages 8, 9 & 10.

Additional sources of information for your promotional strategies include the following:

CARD (Canadian Advertising Rates and Data) is available in most libraries. It gives advertising rates and information for any media in Canada.

Advertising agencies

Radio stations

Newspapers / Magazines

Direct mail services (e.g. Canada Post)

Marketing and Advertising books (available through *The Business Link* or your public library)

A review of your competitors' promotional materials.

STEP 4 Deciding how the business will operate

4.1 Establishing human resource requirements

Human resource management is becoming an important activity for small business owners. In many cases, people <u>are</u> the productivity of the business. The better the managers and staff perform at work, the better the business functions.

4.1.1 Management roles and responsibilities

Question 26: What will be the responsibilities of the manager(s) of the business, and their salaries and benefits?
Other considerations for management include:
What are the key variables that management must control in this business? Examples: cash, inventory, credit, operating costs, etc.
How will the key variables be controlled?
What management assistance will be required to implement the business plan? Examples: construction expertise, engineering, bookkeeping systems, legal work, etc.
What are the strengths and weaknesses of each member of the management team? Be realistic and objective
What management training is required?

in a similar business, and so on.

How will training be done? Examples: consider management courses, on-the-job training

If you have not yet hired all of your managers, outline your recruitment plan.

4.1.2 Staffing decisions

If you are going to hire employees or contractors, you need to take this into account when preparing your pricing and cash-flow projections. Key staffing questions include the following:

Who are the key employees?

What are their job descriptions and salaries?

What are the costs and services involved with subcontracting (shipping, inventory stocking, billing customers, payment terms, etc.)?

Will part-time staff be working in the business?

Are training programs in place or being planned for employees and managers? If so, provide general details.

How will employees be motivated?

Will employee contracts be used?

Is employment seasonal?

What staff benefit plans will be in place?

How much will you need to pay the Workers' Compensation Board to insure your employees? (See http://www.wcb.ab.ca/)

Question 27: If you expect to have many employees, especially part-time employees, then create a sample work schedule.			-time	



4.1.3 Professional support

Most enterprises need outside help at one time or another, but particularly during the start-up phase. You may need help with finance, tax, legal, insurance, accounting, computers, human resources, management consulting, planning and so on. By using advisors, you will be able to concentrate on managing the business and leaving the ever-changing rules and regulations to the professionals.

For advisors to be of maximum benefit, you must be prepared to accept their advice. This valuable advice might not be as expensive as you think and it can pay off in the long run.

The business advisors you plan to use should address areas where your management skills are lacking.

Question 28: List all of your existing and planned business advisors.

Business Advisors

	Name	Company	Telephone
Accountant, Bookkeeper			
Tax Advisors			
Bankers			
Lawyers			
Insurance Agents			
Consultants			
Other			

4.1.4 Summary of salaries, wages and benefits

d staff.			
	_	-	
			
	_		
	_		



4.1.5 Resources to use

Common primary and secondary data sources are found on pages 8, 9 & 10.

Additional sources of information related to human resources include the following:

Canada Customs and Revenue Agency Guides (http://www.ccra.gc.ca/)

- Employee vs. Contractor
- Employee Source Deductions

For salary rates, contact:

- Statistics Canada (http://www.statcan.ca/)
- Your industry association (see Associations Canada for listings)
- Potential contractors

For legal contracts, contact your lawyer.

4.2 Developing the operational plan

4.2.1 Land and buildings

10) Are parking facilities adequate?

11) Is there the possibility of future expansion?
12]) Does the building meet fire, licensing and zoning codes for the type of business being operated from it?
	you plan to purchase rather than lease the land or buildings, provide the following ditional information.
I)	What is the purchase price? Land: \$ Building: \$
2)	Was an appraisal done? ☐ Yes ☐ No
	If yes, include the appraisal in the business plan.
	If not, how was the purchase price established?
3)	Is there an accepted offer to purchase? □ Yes □ No
	If yes, include the offer to purchase in the business plan.
•	you plan to construct or renovate a building, or make leasehold provements, provide the following additional information.
l)	Describe the type of construction work:
2)	What is the total cost of construction? \$
3)	What is the name of the contractor?
4)	Provide a copy of the estimate or quotation in the business plan.
lf y	you plan to lease the land or buildings, provide the following information:
1)	When does the lease expire?
2)	Are there any renewal options? □ Yes □ No If so, provide details.
3)	Amount of the annual rent: \$



4)	l) Is the lease triple net? Triple net means you are responsible for costs such as taxes, insurance and utilities. □ Yes □ No								
5)) Are there any common area costs? □ Yes □ No								
	If so, what is the estimated amount per year? \$								
6)	What do the common area costs cover?								
7)	Has a lease or in	ntent to lease been	signed? □ Yes	s □ No					
	If yes, provid	e copy of signed le	ase for the busine	ss plan.					
		ave you made sure and conditions you		ngs will b	oe available un	der the			
land and buildings, improving or constructing buildings or leasing land and buildings, summarize your situation and provide documentation for the appendices.									
<u>Qι</u>	4.2.2 Equipment required Question 32: If you plan to purchase equipment, provide the following information:								
	pe of equipment	Model number	Serial number	Age	Condition	Cost			



Total Cost of Equipment \$								
4.2.3 Contributed assets								
Question 33: If you or others are contributing assets to the business – such as								
equipment, furnit	ure or vehicles -	- provide the fo	llowing	information	. Some			
lenders or investo	ors can see this	as part of your	stake ii	n the busine	SS.			
Type of assets	Model number	Serial number	Age	Condition	Value			
Total Value of Cont	ributed Assets \$							
4.2.4 Furniture	e and fixtures							
Question 34: Briefly detail all the furniture and fixtures the business will need. Determine the costs and whether they will be leased or purchased.								
Determine the cools and whether they will be leased of parenased.								

4.2.5 Communication system

Question 35: Briefly describe the systems that will be put into place to handle both internal and external communications for the business.

For example: databases, workflow, telephone lines, and Internet connections. Identify any costs associated with setting up and maintaining these communication systems.



4.2.6 Vehicles Question 36: Describe any vehicles the business will require in order to service the customer. Determine the costs for the vehicle, its maintenance, insurance and licensing.
4.2.7 Insurance coverage Question 37: Briefly detail the insurance coverage the business will need. Determine the costs. For example, property insurance, liability insurance, etc.
4.2.8 Banking charges Question 38: Decide on your bank and the service package you need. List the costs.

4.2.3 Bookkeeping and accounting activities
Question 39: Describe how you will keep track of your sales and expenses and how your taxes will be done. Calculate how much these activities will cost.
4.2.10 Office supplies
Question 40: Quickly estimate the cost of office supplies for starting up as well as on an annual basis.
Remember to include things such as photocopying, stationery, postage, file folders, hangers organizers, paper, etc. in this estimate.
4.2.11 Maintenance and repairs Question 41: Estimate the maintenance and repair costs for land, building,
equipment, furniture, fixtures, and vehicles.

4.3 Handling legal requirements

This section outlines the legal requirements for your business. It includes the legal structure of your business. It also includes the operating regulations required by all levels of government for your business start-up.

Your business must meet all of its legal requirements.



4.3.1 Legal structure of the business

One decision you need to make is the form of business you will use. The basic choices are proprietorship, partnership, and incorporation. Each type of business has pros and cons as shown.

	Who	Pros	Cons
Sole Proprietor	Only you	Any profits are yoursEasiest to set upNot very expensivePossible tax benefit	 You carry all risks Responsible for debts—bank can seize personal assets in case of default
Partnership	You and someone else	 Easy to set up Very flexible Partners contribute knowledge, energy and capital 	 Disagreements with partner = problems Legal counsel advised Partners share responsibility for debts
Incorporation	You are separate from your business	Limited liability to the shareholder May reduce taxation	 More expensive and complicated More paperwork and regulations to meet

Key Considerations

There are costs associated with each type of business structure. Some of the factors you should consider when choosing your form of business organization include:

- Ease of entry, i.e. costs, red tape involved
- Degree of regulations and reporting
- Need to protect non-business assets and to limit personal liability
- Taxes
- Image of the business

You may wish to employ the services of an accountant or lawyer to help you evaluate the best option.

Question 42: What legal structure will your business have? costs?	What are the

4.3.2 Regulations and licenses

A wide variety of government departments at the municipal, provincial and federal levels issue business licenses and registration numbers to meet the legal requirements for setting up your business. In each province, the requirements are different.

The following list is not complete, but it will give you an idea of the kinds of legal requirements you should investigate.

Municipal Government

- Land Use and Zoning
- Building Codes
- Business License

Check with municipal authorities to see that your business location is zoned correctly. You may also have to obtain a development permit to run a business from your home.

If you are located on a Reserve or a Métis Settlement, contact that office for appropriate approvals.

If you are constructing a building or renovating an existing building, you will require a building permit before you start. If you are renovating an existing building, you may be required to upgrade sprinkler systems, handicap access, washrooms and so on. These requirements can be costly and must be investigated.

Provincial Government

- Business Registration
- Legal Registration or Incorporation
- · Workers' Compensation Board
- Environmental Approvals
- Occupational Health and Safety

You can register your business at an authorized Alberta Registry Agent. There are also certain businesses that require a provincial business license. Contact *The Business Link* for further information.

Register with the Workers' Compensation Board if you are hiring employees. Contact the Department of Environment to find out whether any environmental approvals are required. Also talk to the provincial government for details about employer and employee responsibilities concerning health and safety in the workplace.

Be sure to include these costs in your financial forecast.

Federal Government

Canada Customs and Revenue Agency

Business Number and GST number

A Business Number is necessary for GST, employee remittances, corporate tax, import/export permit and the list goes on.

If you are a Status Indian operating a business on or off a Reserve, ask Canada Customs and Revenue Agency and/or Indian and Northern Affairs for the information that describes the exemptions allowed in certain circumstances pertaining to GST.

If you will be hiring employees, you need this Business Number to remit federal and provincial income tax deductions, unemployment insurance premiums and Canada Pension Plan contributions for your employees.

Question 43 : What regulations does your business face? Give the specific
details concerning regulations such as filing dates and fees. Example: A coffee
shop would need a zoning permit and approvals from health and fire officials.
shop would need a zoning permit and approvals from health and fire officials.

4.3.3 Resources to use

Common primary and secondary data sources are found on pages 8, 9 &10.

Additional sources of information related to legal considerations include the following:

Canada Customs and Revenue Agency Guides (http://www.ccra.gc.ca/)

Web sites include:

- http://www.cbsc.org/alberta
- http://strategis.ic.gc.ca/
- http://www.statcan.ca/
- http://albertafirst.com/
- http://www.entrepreneur.com/

Municipal economic development agencies

Regional economic development agencies such as Community Futures organizations

Provincial government departments and agencies



Federal government departments and agencies

Aboriginal business service providers (reference Guide Three in the Aboriginal Albertans in Business Series, entitled *Aboriginal Business Service Providers in Alberta*, available from *The Business Link*)

Industry associations

Suppliers in the industry

NOTES



STEP 5 Working with financial plans

In STEP 1, you found a business idea to develop. In STEP 2, you found information on your industry, your customers and your competitors. In STEP 3, you used your research to make some sound business decisions of what your business was going to do, and in STEP 4, you decided how your business would operate.

In all of these steps, there were financial implications, particularly in STEPS 3 and 4. In STEP 5, you will now organize this financial information in five different information schedules. These five information reports are:

- Start-up costs
- Break-even analysis
- Cash-flow forecast
- Income and expense statement
- Balance sheet

In building these financial schedules, it is important to keep in mind that all of the numbers used to build these schedules can be found in the information you have already found or developed.

Working with your financial plans can be difficult. You may want some assistance.

The Business Link and other sources have on-line examples of the cash flow forecast, income statement, balance sheet, and business ratios. *It is also a good idea to have your financial schedules reviewed by an accountant.*

5.1 Determining start-up costs

Start-up costs are the initial expenditures needed to make your business operational. These costs are normally put on one schedule in a summary. Common start-up costs can include the following (reference to Questions about the costs is included):

- Inventory (Question 20, p. 36)
- Promotional expenses including business cards, signage and brochures. [Questions 24 (p. 43) and 25 (p. 43)].
- Land and buildings down payment or rental deposits (**Question 31**, p. 50)
- Leasehold improvements (Question 31, p. 50)
- Equipment (Question 32, p. 50)
- Furniture and fixtures (Question 34, p. 51)
- Deposits for telephone and Internet services (Question 35, p. 51)
- Vehicles (Question 36, p. 52)
- Insurance (Question 37, p. 52)
- Legal and other professional fees [Questions 39 (p. 53) and 42 (p. 54)]
- Office supplies (Question 40, p. 53)
- Licenses and permits (Question 43, p. 56)
- Goods and Services Tax (7.0%)



Question 44: Create a schedule showing all the start-up costs, the contributed assets and the remaining financial requirements for your business.

Start-up Cost Schedule

Item	Start-up	Contributed	Remaining
	Costs	Assets	to finance
Total Fixed Assets	Total	Total	Total
Total Fixed Assets	Total	Total	Total
Total Current Assets	Total	Total	Total
TOTAL ASSETS	\$	\$	\$

Question 45: Summarize total start-up costs required.						

5.2 Finding out how many customers you need

Finding the break-even point of your business will allow you to see how much sales you will need to cover all of your fixed or overhead expenses. This also can be converted into how many customers you will need to pay your fixed costs.

One way to do a break-even analysis is to identify all of your costs. You then divide your costs into two categories – either fixed costs or variable costs. These two categories are discussed as follows.

5.2.1 Fixed costs

A **fixed cost** is any expense you pay that stays the same regardless of how many customers you have. For example, rent is generally a fixed cost because it doesn't fluctuate based on the number of customers you have.

Create a list of your fixed costs.

Common Fixed Costs	Amount
Start-up costs (Question 44, p.59)	
Business tax, fees, licenses, etc. (Question 43, p.56)	
Property tax (Question 31, p.50)	
Professional fees (Questions 39, p.53 and 42, p.54)	
Management salaries (Question 29, p.47)	
Other salaries & wages (Question 29, p.47)	
Employee benefits (Question 29, p.47)	
Rent or mortgage (Question 31, p.50)	
Insurance (Question 37, p.52)	
Bank charges & interest (Question 38, p.52)	
Maintenance & repairs (Question 41, p.53)	
Communication system (Question 35, p.51)	
Utilities (Question 31, p.50)	
Offices supplies, postage (Question 40, p.53)	
All other operating expenses – training, etc. (Question 29, p.46)	
Total Fixed Costs	\$

5.2.2 Variable costs

A **variable cost** increases as your sales increase. The cost of goods for acquiring new inventory is an example of a substantial variable cost. Variable costs can be established as percentages of sales.

For example in a retail situation, your initial inventory purchases would be a fixed cost because you had to pay for it to start your business. As your customers buy your products and deplete your inventory, you will purchase more products to bring your inventory back to an appropriate level. This additional inventory purchase is a variable cost.

If the additional cost of goods is 40% of its retail price, then the variable cost percentage is 40%. In **Question 19** (p. 35), you have found variable cost margins for your primary products and services. These margins can be used to develop your break-even analysis.

Create a list of your variable costs percentages.

Common variable costs percentages	Percentages
Cost of goods (Question 19, p.35)	
Advertising & promotion (Question 25, p.43)	
Automobile & travel expense (Question 36, p.52)	
Bad debts (use industry average)	
Distribution costs (Question 21, p.37)	
Sub-contractors or commission sales (Question 29, p.47)	
Total variable costs percentages	

5.2.3 Break-even point

One definition of a break-even point is:

Break-even point = fixed costs 1 - the variable cost percentage

An example of a break-even analysis follows.

Break-Even Analysis Example

Store A break-even analysis example:

Fixed Costs	Annual \$	Variable Costs Po	ercentage
Start-Up Inventory	\$31,400	Cost of Goods	51.7 %
Leasehold Improvements	34,200	Advertising	01.2 %
Equipment / Fixtures	11,000	Other	02.0 %
Wages and Salaries	7,800	Total Variable Costs	54.9 %
Professional Fees	2,400		
Insurance	1,100		
Other	5,000		
Total Fixed	\$102,900		

If research shows an average of \$42.50 spent per customer, then $\underline{5,368}$ customers in a year are required to break-even. If open 360 days a year, then 15 paying customers a day will be required to break-even.

Source: Partners In Enterprise

The break-even analysis allows you to determine the minimum sales you'll need to pay all your expenses. It can also let you determine how many customers you will need.

Question 46: Find the break-even point for your business.							

5.3 Forecasting cash flow

The Cash Flow Forecast vs. the Income and Expense Statement

There is a basic distinction between a Monthly Cash Flow Forecast and a Monthly Income and Expense Statement forecast.

The Monthly Cash Flow Forecast shows all the cash the business expects to receive from every source as well as all cash payments the business expects to make. The Monthly Income and Expense Statement shows sales made and expenses to be incurred over a



period of time. In many cases, the monthly and annual income and expense statements will record income before cash has actually been received (a credit sale). It does not show changes in the cash position of the business, and does not necessarily show all cash transactions, such as additional investment by the owner, dividends or payments on long-term debt.

The following example shows the difference between these two financial tools:

If you expect to sell \$100 worth of goods in March and receive payment in cash at the time of sale, the \$100 will appear as a sales receipt in your Cash Flow Forecast for March. However, if you expect to sell \$100 worth of goods in March on 30-day terms and collect the \$100 in April, the \$100 will appear as a sale in your March Income and Expense Statement—but will not appear as a cash receipt in your Cash Flow Forecast until April.

To sum up, the monthly Income and Expense Statement will give an estimate of the profitability of a business over a period of time. It cannot indicate what form that profitability will take. Specifically, will the profit show up in cash? The monthly Income and Expense Statement will not indicate whether there will be sufficient cash during the period to meet the obligations of the business.

The purpose of a Monthly Cash Flow Forecast is to determine, as closely as possible, just how much cash is needed to meet obligations. Since only cash payments and receipts are recorded—not promises, and not ultimate profitability—the cash flow budget will show the actual monthly flow of cash through the business. With this information, you will be in a position to know whether you have enough funds to make planned capital expenditures and to pay suppliers when bills are due; whether extended credit terms are necessary, or whether you need a new or increased line of credit.

5.3.1 Sales forecasting

The foundation of all business planning is sales forecasting.

Forecasting is simply the process of organizing and analyzing information in a way that makes it possible to predict what will happen in the future. At least four ways exist to forecast sales. These include the following methods:

- Determine the market size of your trading area (**Question 7**, p. 23). Determine what percentage of the market your business can do.
- Search statistical databases for financial information to help establish a realistic sales forecast (Sources referenced on pages 8, 9 & 10).
- Use your break-even sales figure as a minimum sales that year (Question 46, p. 62)
- Find business mentors or advisors experienced in your industry (Question 28, p. 47)

Once you have calculated an annual sales forecast, you will need to look at each month to see how the sales change from month to month (**Question 2**, p.20). You will need to make some assumptions about how your sales will grow from year to year (**Question 4**, p.21).

5.3.2 Monthly income and expenses

Review your previous work (**Question 45**, p. 59). In the monthly cash flow forecast, the seasonality of sales and the cash going in and out of the business must be considered. To get a sense of which months' sales will be high, average, or low, refer to **Question 7**, p. 23. A business can have cash flows resulting from its <u>future</u> accounts receivable and accounts payable as described below.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable is money owed to the business by customers who purchase goods on credit. An example would be a contractor who is paid some money upfront at the beginning of a project and collects the final payment when the job is finished. In this case, the contractor must anticipate a fluctuation in cash flow.

Names of Debtors	Total Amount	Current Amount	31-60 Days	61-90 Days	Over 90 Days
Total Amount					
Percentage	100%	%	%	%	%

Accounts Payable

Accounts payable is money owed to suppliers for purchases, or money owed for other expenses, like utilities or taxes, on credit. Generally, a start-up business will not have access to very much credit.

Names of Creditors	Total Amount	Current Amount	31-60 Days	61-90 Days	Over 90 Days
Total Amount					
Percentage	100%	%	%	%	%

Current Portion of Long-Term Debt

The current portion of long-term debt consists of the amounts due on long- and medium-term debt over the next 12 months.

Mortgages and notes:	
Loans from shareholders:	
Other loans	

5.3.3 Determining the amount of money you will need to start

A cash flow can be used to see how much money you will need to run the business for the first year at least. This is done by developing the cash flow with no starting cash. In the cash flow, an ending cash balance for each month is given. This ending balance can never be negative. If it is negative, this means the business does not have enough money that month to pay all of its bills.

Starting out with more cash, obtaining a line of credit that can make up any shortfall, or both, can change this situation.

Question 47: Create a monthly cash flow forecast for your business for its first two years.

A sample cash flow forecast form is given on the next page.

NOTES

Cash Flow Forecast

Month

Cash Receipts	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	Total
Cash Sales													
Collection of Accounts Receivable													
Loan Proceeds													
Other Cash Receipts													
Sales of Assets													
Cash Equity													
Other Contribution													
Total Cash Receipts													
Cash Disbursements													
Accounts Payable													
Purchase of materials or stock													
Purchase of fixed assets													
Advertising and promotion													
Automobile and travel expenses													
Business tax, fees, licenses, etc.													
Property tax													
Professional fees													
Management salaries													
Other salaries and wages													
Employee benefits													
Rent													
Insurance													
Payment on loans/mortgages													
Maintenance and repairs													
Freight													
Telephone													
Utilities													
Office expenses and postage													
All other operating expenses													
Income Tax payments													
Total Cash Paid Out													
Opening Cash Balance													
Closing Cash Balance													

5.4 Creating income statements

As discussed in Section 5.3, the cash flow forecast is not the same as an income and expense statement. In an income and expense statement, all income and expenses are recorded as they happen, and not when they are paid for.

The income and expense statement then gives a better picture of the profits or losses that your business is generating. A sample set-up of an income and expense statement is as follows.

Projected Income and Expense

Month

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	Total
Sales	'		3		, J	0	'	0	9	10	11	12	TOtal
Cost of goods sold													
_													
Gross Margin													
Expenses													
Advertising & promotion													
Automobile & travel expense													
Bad debts													
Business tax, fees, licenses,													
etc.													
Property tax													
Professional fees													
Management salaries													
Other salaries & wages													
Employees benefits													
Rent													
Insurance													
Bank charges & interest													
Maintenance & repairs													
Freight													
Telephone													
Utilities													
Offices expenses, postage													
All other operating expenses													
Depreciation													
Total Expenses													
Net Profit from Operations													
Other income													
Net Profit before Tax													
Estimated tax rate			_							_	_	-	
Net Profit after Tax			_							_	-	_	

Two aspects of the Projected Income and Expense Statement are: accounting for depreciation of the business assets, and estimating a tax rate.

Depreciation

The declining method of capital cost allowance (CCA) is Canada Customs and Revenue Agency's equivalent to depreciation. Canada Customs and Revenue Agency establishes a set of percentages for different groups of assets for tax purposes. Only use one-half the CCA rate in the first year of owning the assets. In the beginning of the second year, you can add back the one-half you didn't use in the first year.

*Example: The CCA allowance for an automotive vehicle is currently 30% a year. Multiply the maximum rate allowed, (30%) by the un-depreciated balance. Using the vehicle example, the calculated capital cost allowance is as follows:

YEAR	VALUE AT BEGINNING OF	CCA RATE	CCA YEARLY	VALUE AT END OF
	YEAR	%	AMOUNT	YEAR
1	\$25,000 - \$12,500 (1/2)	30%	\$3,750	\$ 8,750
2	\$21,250 (8,750 +	30%	\$6,375	\$14,875
	12,500)			
3	\$14,875	30%	\$4,462	\$10,413

A table as below can be used to calculate your CCA.

YEAR I

TYPE OF ASSET	VALUE AT	CCA RATE	CCA YEARLY	VALUE AT END
	BEGINNING OF	%	AMOUNT	OF YEAR
	YEAR			
Building	\$	%	\$	\$
Equipment	\$	%	\$	\$
Vehicle	\$	%	\$	\$
Leasehold	\$	%	\$	\$
Furniture	\$	%	\$	\$

Estimated tax rates

You can estimate a tax rate for planning purposes. Consider setting a low rate of 25% on net operating income below \$200,000 and a high rate of 50% on net operating income above \$200,000. Rates can vary by individual businesses as well. You may want to consult an accountant.

Question 48: Create an annual income and expense statement for the first three years of your business and summarize the profit and loss projections.

5.5 Creating balance sheet projections

The balance sheet is a snapshot of the financial position of a business at a particular point in time—as opposed to over a period of time. It shows what the company owns, what it owes and its net worth (on the date when the Balance Sheet was prepared). Using a series of projected balance sheets—or "snapshots"—can determine the business's worth over a period of time.

Assumptions to Balance Sheet Projections

When you prepare this statement, consider the assumptions underlying your financial plans and their effect on assets, liabilities, and owners' and shareholders' equity (your investment plus accumulated profits).

- Do accounts receivable reflect your current credit policy? For example, if your terms are net 30 days, are your customers paying within 30 days? Should you be allowing for 45 days in your Plan to reflect real experience?
- Do you have enough inventory to fill planned orders?
- Have you adjusted figures for fixed assets and accumulated depreciation to reflect any plans for adding equipment or leaseholds?
- For long-term debt, such as mortgages or debentures, what is the current portion of the principal payable each month?
- Do trade payables reflect your established arrangements with suppliers? For example, do you usually pay within 35 days?
- Have retained earnings been adjusted monthly to reflect the planned profits or losses carried forward from the income statement?
- Are there any "hidden values" in your balance sheet? Be sure to inform your banker of market values of assets such as land, stocks, bonds and licenses.

A sample balance sheet form follows. Please note that it is presented for topics/information, not for format.

Many of the financial schedules may be hard to create for particular businesses. This may be where you will want to find help from a business service provider, a business mentor, or a small business consultant.

Balance Sheet as at (date)

		(uate)	D				
	Opening	Opening Projected					
		Year 1	Year 2	Year 3			
Assets							
Current assets:							
Cash and bank accounts							
Accounts receivable							
Inventory at lower of cost or							
market							
Prepaid expenses							
Other current assets							
Total current assets							
Fixed assets:							
Land							
Buildings							
Furniture & equipment							
Leasehold improvements							
Other fixed assets							
Total fixed assets							
Less accumulated							
depreciation							
Not fined agents							
Net fixed assets							
Total assets							
Total assets							
Liabilities							
Liabilities							
Current liabilities:							
Bank loans							
Accounts payable							
Income taxes payable							
Other current liabilities							
Current portion of long-term							
debt							
Total current liabilities							
Total Current Habilities							
Long-term liabilities:							
Mortgages & notes payable							
Mortgages & notes payable Other loans of a long-term							
nature							
Total long-term liabilities							
	<u>. </u>		1				

	Opening		Projected	
		Year 1	Year 2	Year 3
Total loans from shareholders				
Shareholders' equity				
Capital preferred shares				
common shares				
Retained earnings				
Total shareholders' equity				
Total liabilities & shareholders' equity				

Question 49: Create an annual balance sheet for the next three years.

STEP 6 Writing the business plan

Through STEPS 1-5, you (in most cases) have gathered all of the information that you will need to write a business plan. In STEP 6, the business plan is developed with reference to the previous questions you have answered.

6.1 Formatting the business plan

Business plans come in many formats. The format used here is only a sample. Other plan formats, sample plans, and assistance in writing business plans also are available in many places. Sources for some of these places includes the following:

On-Line Resources

Great Starting Web Site

http://www.cbsc.org/alberta (The Business Link)

<u>http://www.cbsc.org/bsa</u> (Canada Business Service Centres – Business Start-up Assistant)

Business Plan Web Sites

<u>http://www.cbsc.org/ibp</u> (Interactive Business Planner)

http://www.bplans.com/

http://www.americanexpress.com/smallbusiness

http://www.toolkit.cch.com/

http://www.sb.gov.bc.ca/smallbus/workshop/busplan.html

http://www.sbaonline.sba.gov/starting/indexbusplans.html

http://www.bdc.ca/

http://www.scotiabank.ca/

http://smallbusiness.vahoo.com/

6.2 Putting the pieces together

The following business plan format will be used. Within each section of the plan, reference is made to questions you have previously answered about your business. Tips for writing particular sections and supporting documentation suggested are also given.



Business Plan Format

6.2.1 Beginning section (Cover page, Table of Contents)

Your cover page must have all pertinent information and your table of contents must make it easy to find things in your plan.

Your cover page is a way to get your business plan noticed. Lenders see dozens, if not more, business plans a week and something as simple as putting your cover page on quality stock paper, may catch their eye.

Your cover page should say the words "Business Plan," and should include your:

Name and business name

Company logo

Address

Telephone number

Fax number

E-mail address

The date should also appear on your cover page. You may wish to give each business plan a number so you can track how many you have given out and who still has a copy.

6.2.2 Executive Summary

The **Executive Summary** will be read first by most readers. If it is not well written, it may be the last thing they read about your company. Lenders in particular read Executive Summaries before looking at the rest of a plan to determine whether or not they want to learn more about a business.

Your Executive Summary should be one to three pages long. It should include your business concept, financial features, financial requirements, current state of your business, when it was formed, principal owners and key personnel, and highlight the potential of the business.

Executive Summary Outline

<u>Company Overview</u> – when and why the business was started, its history, its legal structure, its location and its mission statement.

<u>Business Concept</u> – the product, the market it will serve, and its competitive advantage.

Industry Analysis – industry trends and growth that will support the business.

Market Analysis – discussing the local market opportunity.

Marketing – Strategies for products, pricing, distribution, and promotions.



Owners and key personnel – highlighting management, staff expertise and professional advisors.

Financial information – summarize projected sales, margins, and profits.

Financing – required financing, and owner equity position.

Tips

Create your Executive Summary *after* you have written the other sections of your plan so that you may take a few sentences from important sections and put them in your Executive Summary.

Work hard on your Executive Summary. Have several people read it—both those who know your business and those who do not—to check for clarity and presentation.

6.2.3 Company Overview

Background and History of Business

- ◆ Use the consideration in Section 1.2 (p. 15) and your answers to Question 1
 (p. 18) to discuss why and how the business is being created.
- ♦ Use the answer to **Question 22** (p. 40) to describe the business location.

Vision Statement

The vision statement is simply a picture of where your business is going. It describes the owner's dream of where the business will be in the future and what it will look like. Look at your answer to **Question 1** (p. 18). Make it into a short paragraph.

Mission Statement

The discussion of your business should begin with your **mission statement**—a one- to two-sentence description of the purpose of your business and to whom your product or service is targeted. A lack of clarity in your mission statement indicates that you are not clear about the purpose of your business.

Sample mission statement:

Small business consultant

To provide strategic planning services that will improve the performance and efficiency of start-up small businesses and increase their chances of finding suitable financing.

Once you have your mission statement, you can then discuss the more "technical" aspects of your business. Some areas you should include are:

What type of business is it? Wholesale? Retail? Manufacturing? Service?



- When was the company founded? What is the story behind the founding of the company? (Section 1.2 and Question 1, p. 15 18).
- What is your business' legal structure? (Question 42, p. 54).
- Who are the company's key people and what experience do they bring? (**Section 4.1**, p. 45 48).
- What market needs will you meet? (Question 11, p. 26) or (Question 13, p. 27).
- Who will you sell to? How will your products or services be sold? (Question 24, p. 43).

Goals and Objectives

The goals and objectives should be simple and direct. What are the sales goals? What are the profit goals? This information should come from **Question 48** (p. 68).

Products and Services Summary

• Use the answer to **Question 17** (p. 33) to give a summary of your products and services.

Legal Status

 Use the answer to Question 42 (p. 54) to give a summary of your products and services. Copies of legal documents would be referenced and placed in the appendices.

6.2.4 Marketing Plan

Industry Analysis

- Use the answer to **Question 3** (p. 20) to describe your industry in the first paragraph in this section.
- Use the answer to **Question 4** (p. 21) to describe industry trends in the second paragraph in this section.
- Use the answer to **Question 5** (p. 22) to describe the relationship the economy can have on the industry in the third paragraph in this section.

Tip

Give all sources for your information. This shows you know about your industry and you have done your homework.

Market Analysis

- Use the answer to **Question 7** (p. 23) to describe your market and your predicted sales volume as the first paragraph in this section.
- Use the answers to **Question 8** (p. 23) to describe your community and your projected scope of operations as the second paragraph in this section.
- Use the answer to **Question 9** (p. 24) and the other considerations to describe any environmental impacts that your business might have as the last paragraph in this section.

Reference any primary research data you have gathered such as doing a survey and place a copy of the survey questions in the appendices.

Target Market / Customer Profiles

- If you are targeting other businesses use the answer to **Question 11** (p. 26) to describe your target market.
- If you are targeting consumers use the answer to **Question 13** (p. 27) to describe your target market.

Reference any primary research data you have gathered such as doing a survey and place a copy of the survey questions in the appendices.

Competitive Analysis

• Use the answer to **Question 14** (p. 29) to describe your competition.

Your competition analysis should be referenced and placed in the appendices.

Tip:

Never say that you have no competition. Even if it may be true, no one will believe you.

Competitive Advantage of Products and Services

• Use the answer to **Question 15** (p. 30) to describe your competitive advantage.

Tip:

Be specific about your advantages over your competitors. Don't say, "we will offer better service" but explain how you will do it and why it is different from your competition.

Image of Products/Services

• Use the answer to **Question 16** (p. 32) to describe your business image.



Product / Service Strategies

- Use the answer to **Question 17** (p. 33) to describe your products and services in the first paragraph in this section.
- Use the answer to Question 18 (p. 34) to describe the relationship between your business and your suppliers in the second paragraph in this section.
- Use the answer to **Question 19** (p. 35) to describe the margin on the products and services as the last paragraph in this section. Include a chart if you wish.
- Use **Question 20** (p. 36) to describe the processes involved in the business.

Tip:

A diagram is helpful to show a manufacturing or service process.

Pricing Strategies

• Use the answer to **Question 23** (p. 40) to describe your pricing strategy.

Tips:

If your prices will be lower than your competitors' prices, then you must state why this will be the case. Simply having lower prices while facing the same costs as your competitors will not create a good or believable profit picture. Factors that may help you to offer lower prices would be a better manufacturing or distribution system, or lower labour costs.

Many entrepreneurs say they can sell a higher-quality product for a lower price than competitors. This can make a bad impression. If the quality is higher and you're selling it at a lower price, then some people will think you are underselling the product — and therefore you are not a good businessperson.

Costs tend to be underestimated. Make sure your margins are high enough to handle higher costs.

Location/Distribution Strategies

- Use the answers to **Question 21** (p. 37) to describe your distribution efforts in the first paragraph in this section.
- Use the answer to **Question 22** (p. 39) to describe the specific business location and the reasons for its selection in the second paragraph in this section. A floor plan should be placed in the appendices.

Promotional Strategies/Tactics

• Use the answer to **Question 24** (p. 43) to describe your promotional strategy in the first paragraph.



- Use the answer to Question 25 (p. 43) to describe the timing and the costs of your planned promotions with a few examples in the second and/or third paragraphs in this section.
- Reference the schedule created from **Question 25** (p. 43) and include this promotional plan in the appendices.

Tips:

You might want to include some mock-up ads or brochure samples in the appendices to show your promotional ideas.

If you will be going to trade shows to promote your products, then a list and details of the trade shows should be placed in the appendices.

6.2.5 Human Resources

Management Team

• Use the answer to **Question 26** (p. 45) to describe your management team. Résumés for the top managers should be put in the appendices.

Staff

 Use the answers to Section 4.1.2 (p. 46) and other considerations to describe your staff. If a number of part-time people are employed, then a sample work schedule should be created and placed in the appendices. Question 27 (p. 46)

Support Group

 Use the activity in Question 28 (p. 47) to describe your professional support team of business advisors. If it is strong, it should be highlighted more.

Summary of salaries, wages and benefits

• Use the answer to **Question 29** (p. 47) to show all of the financial impact due to salaries, wages and benefits.

6.2.6 Operational Plan

Land and buildings

- Use the answers to Question 30 (p. 48) to describe the land and building to be used in the business. Location sites and/or floor plans of buildings should be referenced and included in the appendices.
- Use **Question 31** (p. 50) to further summarize your land and building situation. Provide documents such as lease agreements in the appendices.

Equipment

- Use the answer to **Question 32** (p. 50) to show details on the equipment you will need to start the business.
- Use the answer to **Question 33** (p. 51) to show the equipment that you already own that will be used in the business.

Furniture and fixtures

- Use the answer to **Question 34** (p. 51) to show details on the furniture and fixtures you will need to start the business.
- Use the answer to **Question 33** (p. 51) to show the furniture and fixture that you already own that will be used in the business.

Communication system

• Use the answer to **Question 35** (p. 51) to show details of your communication system.

Vehicles

• Use the answer to **Question 36** (p. 52) to give details of vehicles that will be used in the business. Use **Question 33** (p. 51) to show vehicles you already own.

Insurance

 Use the answer to Question 37 (p. 52) to give details of insurance coverage for the business.



Bank charges

• Use the answer to **Question 38** (p. 52) to give details of banking charges.

Bookkeeping and accounting activities

• Use the answer to **Question 39** (p. 53) to give details of your bookkeeping and accounting activities.

Office supplies

• Use the answer to **Question 40** (p. 53) to give details of office supplies.

Maintenance and repairs

 Use the answer to Question 41 (p. 53) to give details of maintenance and repair costs.

Regulations and licenses

• Use the answer to **Question 43** (p. 56) to give details on license fees.

6.2.7 Financial Statements

Start-Up Costs

 Use the answer to Question 44 (p. 59) to give details on start-up costs of the business.

Discussion of Financial Statements — Growth Rates and Assumptions

Your financial statements need to present a realistic picture of what is likely to happen to the business over its first three years. All dollar amounts used in the financials must match with the presentation of costs in the business plan.

Tips:

Do not make unrealistic sales forecasts. Growth is usually gradual and does not take great jumps after the first year of the business.

Assumptions for your sales growth should be explained in detail.



Cash Flow Forecast

 Use the activity of Questions 47 (p. 65) to show the cash flow forecast of the business. The actual cash flow forecast should be placed in the appendices.

Tips:

Be sure your monthly cash flow forecasts relate to the seasonality of your business. Plans that show the same sales each month over a year are quite readily dismissed as being based on a lack of industry knowledge.

Make sure all categories used in the cash flow forecasts are detailed and easily found elsewhere in the plan.

Pro Forma Income Statements

 Use the activity of Questions 48 (p. 68) to discuss the projected profit or loss of the business over the next three years. The actual pro-forma income statement should be placed in the appendices.

Balance Sheets

 Use the activity of Questions 49 (p. 71) to discuss the assets, liabilities, and equity of the business. This could include some simple business ratios. The actual balance sheets should be placed in the appendices.

The Business Link and other sources have examples on-line of the cash flow forecast, income statement, balance sheet, and business ratios. It is also a good idea to have your financial schedules reviewed by an accountant.

Financing Strategy

By figuring out how much money you need, you can then determine from where this funding will come. *Guide Four: Financing Options for Aboriginal Businesses in Alberta* is an excellent resource in this regard (obtain from *The Business Link* or on-line at: http://www.cbsc.org/alberta/absn.)

Tips:

Do not underestimate your financial needs. In many cases, start-up costs are underestimated and sales are overestimated.

Investors will be interested in the potential return on investment.

Lenders are interested in the stability of the business and your equity position.



Break-Even Analysis

• Use the answer to **Question 46** (p. 62) to give details on the number of sales required to pay all of the bills.

6.2.8 Appendices

This section should include documents, charts, and schedules that support the business plan. Materials commonly found in the appendices can include:

- 1) Copies of legal documents such as leases, registrations, permits, etc.
- 2) Quotes from suppliers for purchases on equipment, vehicles, inventory, etc.
- 3) Copies of survey forms used to gather data.
- 4) Floor plans of business property.
- 5) Promotions schedule for the first year.
- 6) Resumés of managers and/or key employees.
- 7) Financial schedules including cash flow forecasts, income and expense statements, balance sheets and break-even analysis.

Glossary of Terms

Accounts payable unpaid bills; money owed to suppliers for goods and services purchased for business operation.

Asset entire accumulated property of a business that can be used to pay debts or expenses, including cash on hand and money owed by customers. Assets are those things a <u>business owns</u>.

Balance sheet statement of what a business owns and what it owes at a given time. The difference between its property including cash and its debts is shown as its net worth.

Break-even point level of sales or production needed to show neither a profit nor a loss.

Cash flow amount of money left in a given period after all income is accounted for and all cash expenses, after taxes and before depreciation, are paid.

Cost of sales or **cost of goods sold** the direct costs of acquiring and/or producing an item for sale, or of providing a service without counting overhead costs.

Current assets cash plus property to be sold or converted to cash within one year.

Current liabilities debts that will be paid within one year.

Depreciation amortization of assets (machinery, buildings, equipment) that wear out or lose value overtime.

Equity the difference between the value of assets and liabilities.

Financial statements typically consists of a balance sheet, income, expense and operating statements.

Fixed assets usually real property or depreciable materials. Buying or selling fixed assets can increase the worth of the business.

Fixed expenses predictable and firm expenses that are generally ongoing, such as building and equipment rental, utilities, and salaries.

Forecasting predicting how many units of product or service will be sold in a given time frame and at what cost to the business, and at what price to the buyer, in order to calculate the financial, material and human resources required to produce the goods or provide the services.

Gross income the sales income of a business before expenses, depreciation and taxes are deducted.

Income the total cash coming from a variety of sources such as customer payments, interest, tax credits, dividends and bonuses.

Income and expense statement a report detailing the source and amount of all income and the total cost to a business, organized and displayed in sub-headings, that can be compared month-to-month, season to season, or year to year

Liabilities immediate and future financial obligations to creditors that expand and contract with sales success of a product or service.

Long-term liabilities debts that will not be paid off within one year

Market analysis the process of identifying potential customers of a product or service, the size of the group, and the percentage of the market that could be captured, considering costs and competition.

Marketing strategy strategy to make potential customers aware of the goods and services of the business; includes promotion, publicity, advertising, and sales.

Negative cash flow financial condition when the expenses are greater than cash income and additional funding is needed.

Net income income left after expenses, depreciation and taxes are deducted.

Net worth the difference between the value of assets and liabilities of a business or individual.

Operating costs expenses incurred in conducting activities ordinary and necessary to the operation of the business.

Revenue the total income a business receives from all sources.

Sales forecast a prediction of the number of units of product or service a business will sell within a specific time period and at a given price.

Target market potential buyers of a product or service determined by geographic, economic, social and other characteristics.

Bibliography

A Cooperative Glossary, Document No. #. 4069, Canada Business Service Centres

Aboriginal Business Development Program: Business Planning Guide. Industry, Science and Technology Canada

Aboriginal Business Development Program: Business Planning Workbook. Industry and Science Canada

Good, Walter S. Building a Dream A Comprehensive Guide to Starting a Business of Your Own. 3rd ed. Toronto: McGraw – Hill Ryerson

Guide One: Is Running a Business for Me?. Alberta Aboriginal Business Services

Guide to Market Research and Analysis, Document No. #: 4013, Canada Business Service Centres

Guide Two: What's the Right Business for Me?. Alberta Aboriginal Business Services

Seminar notes. Partners In Enterprise

http://smallbusinessbc.ca/workshop/concepts.php

http://www.americanexpress.com/

For more information, contact:

The Business Link Business Service Centre

100 - 10237 104 Street NW Edmonton, Alberta T5J 1B1 Business Information Line:

780-422-7722 (in Edmonton)

1-800-272-9675 (Toll-free)

Library: 780-422-7780

Fax: 780-422-0055
E-mail: buslink@cbsc.ic.gc.ca
Web: www.cbsc.org/alberta

This document is available on: www.cbsc.org/alberta/absn